



Hypersonic High Speed Strike Weapons: Design, Research and Development

Manan Kalvinkar^{*}, Kiran Jacob^{*}, Prajwal Reddy[‡], Kruthik R[§]

Department of Aerospace engineering, Dayananda Sagar University, Bangalore, Karnataka, India.

Abstract: Hypersonic High-Speed Strike Weapons are a part of advanced weapon technology used in military engagements, designed to travel and sustain speeds of at least Mach 5, which is five times the speed of sound. These specially designed weapons are capable of maneuvering and changing directions unpredictably. In this paper, we explore the advantages of using such weapons, the research behind them, and how their implementation could enhance military engagements. By employing this system of weapons, we can expect quick weapon system activation times and precise deployment regarding targets. This study examines the design, overview, technical aspects, feasibility, advantages, and disadvantages of deploying this weapon technology in real-time use. However, several challenges must be addressed to successfully deploy these weapons systems. The primary challenges associated with the deployment of hypersonic weapons include temperature management, propulsion technology, material science (which is critical due to the high-speed demands), safety and reliability, strategic and ethical considerations, financial and time constraints, testing facilities, and the guidance and control of these systems. Overcoming these challenges through advanced technology and innovative ideas is essential for the successful implementation of Hypersonic High-Speed Strike Weapons (HHSSW) systems. The HHSSW systems hold promise for advancing the current weapons technology that humanity possesses. With proper research and resource allocation for HHSSW systems, we can anticipate their development for applications such as asteroid or comet deflection and, if necessary, space warfare.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Historical Background	2
3. Types of Hypersonic Weapons	
5. Operational Capabilities of Hypersonic High Speed Strike Weapons (HHSSW)	3
6. Global Development Programs regarding HHSSW	4
7. Strategic and Tactical Implications of HHSSW	
8. What are the challenges faced and the limitations of HHSSW	4
9. The Future prospects regarding HHSSW	5
10. Conclusion	6
11. References	7
12. Conflict of Interest	
13. Funding	7

1. Introduction

Hypersonic weapons were initially developed with the intention of enabling global strikes from any location. Countries like the United States have actively pursued the creation and development of weapons capable of flying at speeds of Mach 5 and above as part of their global strike program since the 2000s. In recent years, the United States has focused more on Hypersonic Glide Vehicles, which are specific weapons launched from a rocket or propulsive vehicle that then glide towards their target, and Hypersonic Cruise Missiles, which utilize mechanically functioning, high-speed air intake engines during flight [1]. The importance of hypersonic weapons cannot be understated in this modern era. The person who deploys such weapon systems wields significant power, as these weapons travel at such high speeds that they are practically impossible to intercept with current defensive technologies [2]. Their relevance in modern warfare is substantial, as most current defensive systems rely on sensors that are Earth-based and altitude-based, which easily detect missiles that fly above their lowest detection thresholds. Considering this, HHSSW systems are deemed superior to conventional systems, such as ballistic

^{*}UG Scholars, Department of Aerospace engineering, Dayananda Sagar University, Bangalore, Karnataka, India. **Corresponding Author:** mannar.kalvinkar7@gmail.com.

[†] UG Scholars, Department of Aerospace engineering, Dayananda Sagar University, Bangalore, Karnataka, India.

[‡] UG Scholars, Department of Aerospace engineering, Dayananda Sagar University, Bangalore, Karnataka, India.

[§] UG Scholars, Department of Aerospace engineering, Dayananda Sagar University, Bangalore, Karnataka, India.

^{**} Received: 14-September-2024 || Revised: 28-October-2024 || Accepted: 28-October-2024 || Published Online: 30-October-2024.

Copyright © AASPL. Published by Acceleron Aerospace Journal (AAJ) with permission. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY 4.0). For more info, visit www.acceleron.org.in.

missiles. Additionally, HHSSW missiles have the ability to change their flight paths seamlessly, which further reduces the chances of detection since these missiles do not follow ballistic trajectories [3].

2. Historical Background

Hypersonic technologies have been investigated for more than six decades on Earth, and important capabilities exist in the form of reentry, space lift, and interceptor systems. Today, new classes of hypersonic weapon capabilities are emerging throughout the world [4]. In this paper, we highlight the usage of these hypersonic technologies in the offensive realm. The initial research and concepts emerged during the Cold War due to the heightened tensions between countries and the requirement for efficient and quicker deployment systems for the weapons arsenals present in military bases. Early research focused on understanding the basic aerodynamic and thermodynamic aspects of hypersonic speeds [5].

The American plane, X-15, was one of the aircraft powered by hypersonic technology, leading scientists to work on and analyze the aerodynamic and thermodynamic aspects of hypersonic weapon systems. The data provided by the very high-speed test flights was instrumental in collecting thermal and mechanical data, which enhanced future designs. Soon, during the 1990s and 2000s, there was the scramjet development program, which used supersonic systems for its flight and served as a benchmark for hypersonic weapons development. These systems operate efficiently at hypersonic speeds by compressing incoming air before combustion, allowing sustained high-speed flight [6]. There was also the need to develop protection systems to safeguard parts and materials from thermal damage. These systems and parts were expected to withstand extreme temperatures. Thermal protection systems were crucial for maintaining structural integrity and protecting internal components [7]. Modern hypersonic system programs focus on researching boost-glide vehicles and hypersonic cruise missiles. The former uses glide mechanics to reach their target, while the latter employs scramjet engines to maintain hypersonic speed all the way to their destination. Countries like the USA, Russia, and China are leading the development of HHSSW systems, with considerable resources and testing being allocated. These tests and data analyses enhance our ability to provide rapid, precise strike options and increase tactical deterrence.

3. Types of Hypersonic Weapons

The first type of HHSSW is the Hypersonic Glide Vehicle (HGV). These are technologically advanced warheads used for modern warfare. HGVs are typically placed on top of a ballistic missile or rocket booster. After reaching the optimum altitude or travel time, the glide vehicle separates from the booster missile and glides towards the target at hypersonic speeds. The advantage of using these weapons is the unpredictability they provide during flight, unlike the predictable trajectory followed by traditional ballistic missiles [8]. The second type of HHSSW is the Hypersonic Cruise Missile, which is another type of advanced weapon that travels at very high speeds, usually exceeding Mach 5, using technologies like scramjet engines. They are typically launched by vehicles such as rockets and tend to maintain their hypersonic speeds throughout the journey, offering high control and precision in striking targets. These types of weapons can easily evade conventional defense systems and hit targets quickly and accurately, making them extremely useful [9]. Apart from the above, there are various emerging technologies in the field of hypersonic weapons, including various interceptor missiles used to counter hypersonic threats from other sources, reusable hypersonic aircraft that can be used for quicker travel and wider reach across the world, space launch vehicles capable of delivering payloads at very high speeds, and objectlaunched projectiles that can achieve hypersonic speeds. These new emerging technologies and innovations aim to enhance strategic conflicts, improve the defenses of organizations, and increase the operational range of hypersonic systems [10].

4. Technical Aspects of Hypersonic High Speed Strike Weapons

The enormous velocities of high-speed striking weapons present unique aerodynamic problems. Advanced heat-resistant materials and cooling systems are required because the extreme heat produced by atmospheric friction can result in severe ablation and material damage. Furthermore, complicated shock wave interactions produced by the high Mach numbers raise the possibility of instability and control issues. To attain the appropriate flight characteristics, the designs of these weapons must carefully balance elements such as lift, drag, stability, and maneuverability. Scholars have made noteworthy progress in comprehending and tackling these obstacles, paving the way for the advancement of more dependable and efficient high-velocity strike weapons [11].

Strike weapons with a top speed require propulsion systems that can provide remarkable thrust and acceleration. Currently, two main technologies dominate this field: air-breathing propulsion and rocket

propulsion. The well-known technique of rocket propulsion produces thrust by forcing high-pressure gas out of the rocket. These weapons are frequently powered by liquid or solid rocket motors to reach very high speeds. Liquid rocket motors provide more control and thrust modulation, while solid rocket motors are simpler and more dependable. For initial acceleration, the scramjet-powered hypersonic test vehicle X-51 Waverider used a solid rocket booster [12].

Air-breathing propulsion systems, such as ramjet and scramjet engines, utilize atmospheric oxygen to sustain combustion, eliminating the need to carry oxidizers on board. This can lead to greater range and a lighter payload. The capacity of scramjets, in particular, to reach hypersonic speeds has drawn considerable attention. Scramjet technology is planned for use in the SR-72, a proposed hypersonic aircraft, to enable prolonged high-speed flight [13-14]. High-speed striking weapons operate under harsh conditions characterized by aerodynamic heating and mechanical strains. Modern materials and heat-reduction technologies are necessary to endure these circumstances.

Carbon-Carbon Composites: These materials, made of carbon fibers embedded in a carbon matrix, can tolerate temperatures as high as 3,000°C and offer remarkable thermal stability. They provide significant advantages due to their high strength-to-weight ratio.

Refractory Metals: Metals such as tungsten, molybdenum, and tantalum can withstand oxidation at high temperatures. They are frequently utilized in crucial parts like nose cones.

Ceramic Matrix Composites: These composite materials, made of ceramic fibers within a matrix that exhibits exceptional mechanical and thermal resistance, are commonly used for heat protection systems [15-16].

Thermal Protection Systems (TPS)

Ablative TPS: This type of TPS utilizes materials that degrade or vaporize upon exposure to heat, absorbing energy and protecting the underlying structure. Examples include phenolic-impregnated carbon (PIC) and carbon-phenolic.

Radiative TPS: These systems rely on their ability to radiate heat away from the vehicle. Materials such as silica tiles used on the Space Shuttle are examples of radiative TPS.

Active Cooling: Some systems employ active cooling methods, such as forced convection or transpiration cooling, to remove heat from the vehicle's surfac .[17].

5. Operational Capabilities of Hypersonic High Speed Strike Weapons (HHSSW)

HHSSW represent a significant leap in the advancement of modern military technology, offering unique advantages and merits that distinguish them from traditional missile systems. The key operational capabilities of these HHSSW include:

Speed and Maneuverability: These weapons travel at very high speeds, exceeding Mach 5, which allows them to cover large distances in a very short amount of time. Their ability to execute exceptional maneuvers during flight makes them difficult to intercept with current missile defense systems.

Unforeseeable Flight Paths: Unlike ballistic missiles, which follow a predictable trajectory, hypersonic weapons can alter their bearings based on the situation, making them less predictable and harder to defend against.

Long-Range Strike Capability: Hypersonic weapons are highly capable of striking both fixed and mobile targets at very long distances, providing a strategic edge in modern warfare. Heavily defended and time-sensitive targets can be easily engaged using hypersonic weapons.

Advanced Propulsion Systems: Hypersonic weapons utilize advanced propulsion technologies, including scramjets, to maintain high velocities while gliding through the upper atmosphere [18].

Operational Flexibility: The potential to launch hypersonic weapons from various platforms (ground, air, and sea) enhances their operational flexibility and allows for rapid responses to emerging threats [19].

6. Global Development Programs regarding HHSSW

China, Russia, and the United States are dominating the global arms race in the development of high-speed strike weapons, especially hypersonic missiles. These missiles, which can travel faster than Mach 5, present serious challenges for current missile defense systems and have the potential to change the geopolitical landscape.

China and Russia have developed and successfully deployed hypersonic missiles, making notable advancements in this field and positioning themselves as world leaders in this technology. Test delays and failures have been among the difficulties the United States has encountered while developing hypersonic weapons. However, the United States is determined to close the gap with its rivals, and recent developments have shown promise.

The development of hypersonic weapons raises several important concerns:

Technical Obstacles: Producing these weapons involves overcoming significant technical challenges related to extreme heat, propulsion, and guidance systems.

Strategic Implications: As hypersonic weapons become more widespread, existing deterrent mechanisms may be compromised, increasing the risk of regional conflicts escalating.

Arms Control Concerns: The creation of these weapons threatens the effectiveness of current arms control agreements and highlights the need for new strategies to counter these threats.

As the race for hypersonic superiority heats up globally, policymakers must carefully consider the potential impacts of these weapons and work toward developing practical strategies to mitigate risks and promote stability **[20]**.

7. Strategic and Tactical Implications of HHSSW

High-speed strike weapons, in particular, have the potential to drastically alter the tactical and strategic environment of contemporary conflict. Due to their speed, agility, and capacity to carry various payloads, they present both unique opportunities and challenges.

Strategic Implications

Deterrence and Escalation: Hypersonic weapons can shorten warning times and increase the likelihood of a first strike, potentially weakening existing deterrent systems. This could lead to a more unstable strategic environment.

Force Posture and Base Placement: The ability to strike targets rapidly and accurately may compel nations to reconsider the positioning of their forces and bases to reduce vulnerability.

Arms Control Concerns: The development and deployment of hypersonic weapons could raise questions about arms control measures, further complicating existing arms control agreements [20-21].

Tactical Implications:

Precision Strikes: Hypersonic weapons are capable of launching highly accurate strikes against a range of targets, including mobile assets, critical infrastructure, and fortified bunkers.

Anti-Access/Area Denial (A2/AD) Challenges: These weapons can bypass A2/AD defenses, making it more difficult for adversaries to secure control over key air and maritime zones.

Missile Defense Challenges: The speed, maneuverability, and payload versatility of hypersonic missiles pose significant challenges to current missile defense systems [20-22].

8. What are the challenges faced and the limitations of HHSSW

Hypersonic missile development is a complex endeavour that involves overcoming numerous engineering challenges. These challenges arise from the unique requirements of missiles, such as high speed, long range, and precision guidance. Key engineering challenges include:

Aerodynamics: Minimizing aerodynamic drag is crucial to increase range and speed, significantly impacting missile performance. Stability is another major issue, as the missile must remain stable throughout flight, especially at high speeds and altitudes.

Propulsion: Providing sufficient thrust to accelerate the missile to hypersonic speeds requires a high thrust-to-weight ratio, necessitating careful design attention to ensure efficient propulsion for the weapon.

Cost: Missile defense programs have historically faced significant cost growth, with actual costs often far exceeding initial estimates. On average, major acquisition programs experience cost increases of 20-30 percent from the demonstration and validation phase (when the first prototypes are developed, built, and tested). Ships tend to have the lowest rates of cost growth (roughly 15 percent), while tactical munitions and vehicles see the highest increases (up to 100 percent). Key reasons for these escalating costs include:

- The highly political nature of missile defense programs.
- Urgent responses to perceived near-term threats.
- Underestimated technical challenges.

The combination of these factors has often led to underestimating the true cost of ballistic missile defense programs, posing risks to program success and slowing progress. Realistic estimates of technical challenges, costs, and schedules are critical for the successful development of missile defense systems [23].

Ethical Considerations:

- **Humanitarian Concerns:** The potential for hypersonic weapons to cause extensive damage and casualties raises serious ethical and humanitarian issues.
- **Escalation Risks:** The deployment of hypersonic weapons could increase the risk of conflict escalation and the potential for nuclear warfare.
- **Destabilization:** Hypersonic weapons could destabilize regional and global security.
- **Pre-emptive Strikes:** The capability for pre-emptive use of hypersonic weapons raises questions regarding international law and the right to self-defense.

Legal Considerations: International Humanitarian Law (IHL) must be upheld in the use of hypersonic weapons, with actions justified by military necessity. The prohibition of indiscriminate attacks is paramount to protect civilian lives. Deploying weapons of mass destruction (WMDs) may violate arms treaties signed to curb such weaponry, highlighting the need for careful legal compliance in the advancement of hypersonic technologies [24].

9. The Future prospects regarding HHSSW

Signal Processing for Missile Guidance: Future Prospects

The future of missile guidance will depend heavily on advancements in signal processing technology. Anticipated mission requirements demand autonomous weapon systems, and APL has led developments in this area with a focus on image-based signal processing and intelligent sensors. New developments must address system requirements to accurately pinpoint target locations and structures, while processors must make decisions based on target identification. This article introduces two advanced concepts being investigated at APL that hold promise for supporting future missile-guidance needs.

Currently, anti-ship missile seekers rely on conventional (real-beam) monopulse radar, which produces range profiles, or one-dimensional representations of a target's radar cross-section by range. At longer ranges, inverse synthetic aperture radar (ISAR) can be used for stand-off ship classification. However, ISAR imagery varies with each look, offering different perspectives like plan and side views. Future anti-ship missile seekers may adopt synthetic aperture radar (SAR) or monopulse imaging to create ship images, which show the radar scatter distribution of illuminated targets from a plan view. In future anti-ship missiles, radar-based imaging may be complemented by infrared sensors for enhanced target recognition.

One approach under consideration is MRSI (Multi-Resolution Shape Indexing), inspired by human vision, for image detection and segmentation. MRSI can support autonomous seekers or man-aided image processing, as in the man-in-the-loop system where MRSI would provide target cueing to help human interpreters scan a wide field of view more efficiently [25].

Air and Missile Defense: Shaping the Future

Since its founding in 1942, APL has made significant contributions to air and missile defense, from the development of the proximity fuze in WWII to more recent advances in sensors, weapons, and command and control (C2) technologies. As threats to the nation, allies, and homeland evolve, the pace of change challenges today's air and missile defenses.

Staying ahead of adversaries requires major advances that could fundamentally redefine air and missile defenses. Historically, the U.S. benefited from geographical buffers and partnerships with peaceful neighbors. The Cold War brought the threat of long-range ballistic missiles carrying nuclear warheads, leading to the doctrine of mutually assured destruction (MAD) for strategic stability. The future will demand resilient, secure, and high-capacity communications to enable ISR&T, weapons, C2 systems, and platforms in highly contested environments across air, space, and near-space domains as well as in homeland defense. APL's centennial vision emphasizes intense technological competition where emerging offensive capabilities are met with advanced defensive systems [26].

Long-Range Ballistic Missile Defense in Europe

In early 2007, the Bush Administration proposed a Ground-Based Midcourse Defense (GMD) element in Europe to counter an Iranian missile threat. This system would include 10 interceptors in Poland, a radar in the Czech Republic, and another closer to Iran, with an estimated cost of \$4 billion by 2013. However, the European BMD proposal raised foreign policy challenges, especially with Russia.

On September 17, 2009, the Obama Administration canceled this program in favor of a more flexible, regional BMD capability. Defense Secretary Gates outlined a system using existing BMD sensors and interceptors that could be deployed globally in response to crises or changing conditions. This flexible approach has evolved over the past decade, particularly in response to Iranian short- and medium-range ballistic missile proliferation concerns.

10. Conclusion

Hypersonic High-Speed Strike Weapons (HHSSW) have emerged as a disruptive force in military technology, fundamentally reshaping the landscape of warfare. These cutting-edge weapons, capable of traveling through the atmosphere at speeds exceeding Mach 5, represent a convergence of advanced engineering, strategic foresight, and intense geopolitical competition. Propulsion advancements, including Scramjet engines, allow for sustained acceleration without onboard oxidizers. Research into combined-cycle engines, which transition seamlessly between scramjet and rocket modes, promises increased flexibility and accuracy. For guidance, precision has reached new levels. Since these weapons demand pinpoint accuracy, inertial guidance systems combined with terminal homing technologies help ensure that these projectiles reach their targets. Adaptive algorithms continuously refine trajectories, accounting for atmospheric disturbances and target evasive maneuvers. Material scientists are also focusing on specialized ceramics, superalloys, and advanced composites, designed to withstand extreme thermal loads, maintain structural integrity, and dissipate heat efficiently. Given these advancements, major powers such as the United States, China, and Russia are actively competing for supremacy in hypersonic technology, acknowledging its game-changing potential. Hypersonic weapons blur the line between conventional and nuclear capabilities, as their speed and maneuverability challenge existing defense systems. In conclusion, HHSSW is not merely a technological marvel; it signifies a profound shift in global security dynamics. As we advance in this technological domain, responsible development, transparency, and international cooperation are essential to balance innovation with caution. HHSSW will undoubtedly play a significant role in future conflicts, whether on Earth or in the realm of potential space warfare.

11. References

- [1] Abbasi, I. (2024). Materials challenges in hypersonic flight. AZO Materials. Retrieved from <u>https://www.azom.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=23282</u> on August 21, 2024.
- [2] Aarten, S. R. (2020). The impact of hypersonic missiles on strategic stability. De Militaire Spectator, 182-193.
- [3] Boyd, I. (2022). How hypersonic missiles work and the unique threats they pose an aerospace engineer explains. The Conversation.
- [4] Bradley, G. B., & Steinberg, R. A. (1988). Future prospects of missile.
- [5] Bugos, S., & Reif, K. (2021). Understanding hypersonic weapons: Managing the allure and the risks. Arms Control Association Report, September.
- [6] Cameron, L. T. (2024). Weapons design, engineering ethics and the duty to inform.
- [7] Cernat, R. (2021, October). The potential of hypersonic weapons and the great military powers strategy regarding their production–Case study. In Romanian Military Thinking International Scientific Conference Proceedings (pp. 230-245). Centrul tehnic-editorial al armatei.
- [8] Davis, S. (2020). Hypersonic weapons A technological challenge for allied nations and NATO? NATO Parliamentary Assembly, 20, 2020-11.
- [9] Ferri, A. (1968). Review of scramjet propulsion technology. Journal of Aircraft, 5(1), 3-10.
- [10] Huang, A. (2023). Thermal Protection Materials Branch Design and analysis. NASA. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nasa.gov/general/thermal-protection-materials-branch-design-and-analysis/</u> on August 21, 2024.
- [11] Lampis, L. (2023). Modeling of a hypersonic glide vehicle during a re-entry phase.
- [12] Lewis, M. J. (2017, November). Global strike hypersonic weapons. In AIP Conference Proceedings (Vol. 1898, No. 1). AIP Publishing.
- [13] Oelrich, I. (2020). Cool your jets: Some perspective on the hyping of hypersonic weapons. Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, 76(1), 37-45.
- [14] Schaffer, J. (2014). The X-51 scramjet test vehicle: A review. AIAA Journal.
- [15] Terry, N. B., & Cone, P. P. (2020). Hypersonic technology. Strategic Studies Quarterly, 14(2), 74-99.
- [16] Terry, N. B., & Cone, P. P. (2020). Hypersonic technology. Strategic Studies Quarterly, 14(2), 74-99.
- [17] Van Wie, D. M. (2021). Hypersonics: Past, present, and potential future. Johns Hopkins APL Technical Digest, 35(4), 335-341.
- [18] Van Wie, D. M., D'Alessio, S. M., & White, M. E. (2005). Hypersonic airbreathing propulsion. Johns Hopkins APL Technical Digest, 26(4), 430-437.
- [19] Windhorst, T., & Blount, G. (1997). Carbon-carbon composites: A summary of recent developments and applications. Materials & Design, 18(1), 11-15.
- [20] Wortzel, L. M. (2022). Hypersonic weapons development in China, Russia, and the United States. Association of the United States Army, Land Warfare.
- [21] James, C. M. (2003). New challenges in missile proliferation, missile defense, and space security.
- [22] Vishal, G., & Miller, G. A. (2021). Potential innovations based on air and missile defense.

12. Conflict of Interest

The author declares no competing conflict of interest.

13. Funding

No funding was received to support this study.